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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

October 24, 2000
MEMORANDUM
TO: THE COMMISSION
THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
STAFF DIRECTOR
FROM: JOHN D. GIBSO -
ASSISTANT STAFY DIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
SUBJECT: REASON TQO BELIEVE RECOMMENDATION - SEPTEMBER
MONTHLY REPORT FOR THE ADMINISTRATIVE
FINES PROGRAM

Attached is a list of political committees and their treasurers who failed to file or
timely file the 2000 September Monthly Report in accordance with 2 U.S.C. 434(a). On
January 27, 2000, Prior Notice was sent to all political committees and their treasurers,
informing them that the September Monthly Report was due on September 20, 2000. The
report should cover from August 1, 2000 (or the closing date of the last report filed or, if
the committee is newly registered, all activity that occurred before registration) through
August 31, 2000.

The committees listed in the attached RTB Circulation Report either filed the
report more than five (5) days after the due date, failed to file the report or filed the report
more than 30 days after the due date (considered a non-filed report). In accordance with
the schedule of civil money penatties for reports at 11 CFR 111.43, these committees
should be assessed the civil money penalties included on the report provided.

Recommendation

(1) Find reason to believe that the political committees and their treasurers listed on the
RTB Circulation Report violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a prelimnary
determination that the civil money penaities would be the amounts indicated on the

RTB Circulation Report.

(2) Send the appropriate letters.
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20463

BALLOT DEADLINE: Monday, October 30, 2000 4:00

COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SANDSTROM, SMITH, THOMAS, WOLD

SUBJECT:

()
()

()

()

Reason To Believe Recommendation-September Monthly
Report For The Administrative Fines Program.

| approve the recommendation(s)

| approve the recommendations except those following
to which | object (please insert AF#)

| approve the recommendations except those following
in which 1| abstain (please insert AF#)

| approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

A definite vole is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return bailot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE:

SIGNATURE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

L A L

US Chamber of Commerce PAC AF 24
and William ¢. Miller, Jr.
as treasurer.

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Acting Secretary of the Federal

Blection Commission, do hereby certify that on Octcber 30,
2000, the Commigsion decided by a vote of 6-0 to find reason
to believe that US Chamber of Commerce PAC and William C. Miller
Jr., as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. §434(a), and make a preliminary
determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated
October 24, 2000, for the 2000 September Monthly Report for the
Administrative Fines Program; and send the appropriate letter.

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,

Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.

O At 3/ zpoo 2 e

tast:

Date ove
Acting(Becretary of the
Commisgsion

Received in the Secretariat: Wed., Oct. 25, 2000 9:58 a.m.
Circulated to the Commission: Wed., Oct. 25, 2000 11:00 a.m.
Deadline for vote: Thurs., Oct. 30, 2000 4:00 p.m.

viv
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CONFIRMATION NOF CHGH TO:HYLLIAM C MILLZY SR
US CHAM3ER OF CDIWMERCE PAC {NCAP)
1615 H ST Nw
WASHINGTON DC 200562-0001

o
FEDERAL ELECTIDN COMMISSION
LEAH PALMER
. 999 £ ST NW ¥ 709
5 NASHINGTON DC 20463
it
1
£
I NOVEMBER le 200D
g
i WILLIAM C MILLER JR
& S CHAMBER DF COMRERCE PAC (NCAP}
& 1615 4 ST N o
- RASHINGTON Of 20062
79
fi
CO00B2040
AER 3%
-

DEAR WILLTAH C MILLER JR:

THE FEDERAL ELECTION CAMPAIGN ACT DOF 1971, AS AMENDED (®THE
ACYR)y REQUIRES THAT YOUR COMMITTEE FILE A SEPTEMBER MONTHLY REPOART
OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS COVERING THE PER(OD THROUGH AUGUST
31« THIS RFPORT SHALL BE FILED ND LATFR THAN SEPTEMBER 20TH 2
JeSele 434(A), VYOU HERE PREVINUSLY NOTIFIED IF THE DUE DAYF FIY THE
YEPDRY. RECORDS AT THE COMMISSION INDICATE THAT THIS REPORY WAS

oY FILED ON 0972672000y & DAYS LATE.

THE ACT WAS FURTHER AMENDED IN 1999 YO PEINIT THE FEDERAL
ELECYION COMMESSION (®THE COMMISSION®Y TD IMPOSE CIVILI MONEY
PENALYIFS FNR VIOLATIONS OF YHE REPORTING REQUIREMENTS OF 2 UJaSale
436(AJe 2 UeSelo 437GEAF(4). ON 10730720000 THE COYMISSEOIN FIIYD
Y4AYT THEPE IS QFASDON YD BFLIFVE (RRTB™) THAT US CHAMBER JIF COY4ERLE
DAL (NCAP) AND YOUs AS TREASURERy VIOLATYED 2 YeSels &35(83 BY
FAYLING TN FILE TIMELY THIS RFPORT ON 0f AEFIRE SEPTERBFR 20TH.
RASED DN THS COMMISSINN®S SCHEDULES DF CIVIL YINFY PENALTIES AT 1Y
TF? 111.43y THE AMOUNT OF YNUP CIVIL MONFY PEMALYY CALCJLAVED &F
AT 1S $250.00a. IT IS DUF BY 12709/2000 AND IS BASED JI§ FHESF
FArYoes:

ELECTION SENSITIVITY OF QREPORT: NOT ELECTION SENSITIVE
LFVFL OF ACTIVITYZ $ 13550

YIMEEP OF DAYS LATE: 6

NUMBER NF PRFVINUS CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES ASSEFSSFED: 9

TY PRY THF CTALCULATFD CIVIL MONFY 26NARLTY
N PAY THF CALCULATED CYVIL MONCEY OFENALTYY, SEND FAT SNCLOSSD

"MESTERN UNION COMMERCIAL SERVICES
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HEST UNTON COMMERCIAL SERVICES

IEMTYTANCE AND YDUR PAYMENT TP YHE COMMISSEION AT THE ADDYIESS DI4 PASE
3. UPDN PFCEIPY OF THE RAFMITTANCE AND PAYMENT, THE Z0OMMISSION WILL
SEMD ¥YOU A FINAL DFTEIMINATION LEFrEQ,

TN CHALLEMGE THF QT8 FINOING ANMD/DOR CALCULAYED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY
YD CHALLENGFE THE 278 FINDING AND/OR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY

SENALTYy YOU MUST SUBMIT A WRITYEN RESPONSE T3 THF COMMISSION'S

JFEYILE DF ADMINISYRATIVE REVIEW, 999 E STREET, NHe WASHINGTON, OO

20463, YOUR RESPONSE MUST BE RECEIVED BY 1270972000, YIUR HWRIITTEN

RESPONSE MUST TNCLUDE THE REASONISY WHY ¥YOU ARE CHALLENGING THE ITH

FINDING AND/Z/OR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY, THE COMMISSION WILL

INLY CONSIDFR CHALLFMNGES THAT ARE BASED ON A4 FACTUAL EQRORy

MISCALCULATION NF THE CALCULATED LIVIL MONEY PENALTY BY THE

: COMMISSTINN, DR THE EXISTENCE OF EXTRAORDINARY ZIRCUMSTANCES THAT

& PFRSISYED FDR MDRF THAN 48 HDURS THAY WERE BEVYIND YOUR CONTROL AND

- PREVENTED Y3 FR0O#M FILING THE REPDRY IN A TIMELY MANNER., YOUR

RESPONSF MUST INCLUDE THE FACTUAL BASES SUPPORTING THE REASOMISS AND

SUPPDORTING DDLUMENTATION, THE COMMISSION STRONGLY ENMCOURAGES THAT

DOCUMENTS BE SUBMITYED IN THE FDRM 0OF AFFIDAVITS OR DECLARATIINS.

EXTRADADYINARY CIRCUMSTANCES THAT WILL NOV BE CONSIDERED INCLUOE, BUT

8 ARE NOT LTHMITED TDy NEGLIGENCE, PRIBLEMS HITH VENODRS IR

- CONTRACTORSy STAFF TLLNFSS, COMPUYER FATLURES AND SIMILAR

. CIRCUMSTANCES. 11 CFR 111.35483¢12€CT1T) AND (43,

e IF YOU INYEND TD BE REPRESENTED BY COUNSELy PLEASE ADVISE THE
IFFICE DF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEHS YU SHOULD AIIVIDE, IN WIITING,

! THE NAWE, ADDRESS AND TELEPHONE NUMBER OF YOUR COUNSEL AND AUTHORIZE
CNUNSEL YO QFCFEIVE NOTIFICATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS RELATING TO THES
CHALLENGF AND IMPOSITION OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY.

IF ¥0Y DD NOY PAY THFE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IR SUBMIT A
CHALLENGFE

[F YU DN NOT PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY DR SUSBHIT A
W2ITTEN RESPONSE, THF COMMISSION WILL ASSUME THAT YTHE PRFLFEDING
EACTUAL ALLEGATIONS ARF TRUE AND MAKE A& FINAL DFTERMINATION T4AT US
CHARBER OF ZOMMERCE PAC (NCAP) BND YOU, AS TRIEASURERy VIOLATED 2
YoSelo 4340A) AND ASSESS A CYIVIL MONEY PENALTY,

UNPATID CIVIL MDNEY PENALTYIES ASSESSED THRIUGH THE ADHINISTIATIYE
FINF 2FGULATINNS HILL BF SUBJECT TO YHE DEAY COLLECTYIIW ACY OF 1982
{POCA™Y AS AMEMDEN AY THE DEBY COLLECTION [MPROVEHMENT ACT DF [ 995,
21 UsSaCe 3701 £7 SFQ, THF COMMISSION MAY TACE ANY AYD ALL
APOROPATATF ACTIOM AUTHIQATIZED END REQUIRED BY TAE DLAy A4S AHENDED,
TNCLUDING YRANSFFR TN THF UJaSe DEPARTHENT JF (HE TREASJIAT FOR
IPLLECTION. 11 CFR 111.45,

YHIS MATYFER WAS GENFRATED BASED ON INFORWATINON ASCEQTAINEN BY
THE COMMISSION TN THF MNRMAL CNURSFE OF CARRYING JUT (TS SUPFRYISORY
RESPONSIBILITIFSSs 2 UeSele &ATGUAIL2Y, IT WILL QEMAIN COMNFIOENTIAL
IN ACCORNDANCE HITH 2 UeSale 43TGLRIUSTBY AND S3TGIAPT123CAD JUNLESS
YU NOTIFY THE FOUMMISSION IN WRITING THAY YDU AYSH VHE MATTER TO BE
MADF PURLTIC.

ANDITINNAL TMFOOMATIAON DN THFE COMAISSION®S ADRINISTIATIVE FIYF
PAINGRAM, IMOLUDPING THE FINAL REGULATIONS, IS LOZATED AT THE
TNMBISSIONTS HWERSITF AT HWW.FEC.GOVe IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS
IFGAPDIMAG TUFE OAYMENT OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONFY CCENALTY, PLEASE
TANTACY de BASEL FSIMPRYS IN THF REPORTS ANMALYSIS DIVISION AT 92
TOLL FPFF NUMRER {900Y626~-8530 {PR5SS 1y THFY PRESS 21 132
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TWESTERIN UNION COMMERCYAL SEQVICES
(2021694~1130, IF Y0U HAVE QUESTIINS EGAROING THE SUBMISSIDN JF A
CHALLENGEs PLEASE CONTACT THE OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW AT OUR
TOLL FR2EE NUMBER (S0D)424-9530 {PRFSS 0, THEN £XTe 16603 0GR
(2021694-1656D.

{4
' SINCERELYe
DARRYL WOLD
", CHATRYAN
=
i ¥ e % ' & % * = & % %* % & & *
£x ADMINTSTRATIVE FINE PAYWENT REMYTTANCE £ PAYMENT INSTRUCTIONS
&% IN ACCORDANCE WITH TYTHE SCHEDULE OF PENALTEIES AT If CFR Ll1.63y
o THE AMOUNY OF YOUR CIVIL MONEY PENALYY CALCULATED AT 278 IS $250,.00

1 FOR THE 2000 SEPTEMBER MONTHLY REPDRT.
PLEASE MAIL THIS REMITTANCE WITH A CHECK 0 MONEY DRDER MADE
PAYABLE TD THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION T) THE FOLLOWING ADDRESS:
2 FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

e Pe D BOX 952182
- STe LOUISs MO 63195-2182

Al YF YD CHODSE TD SENMD YOUR REMITTANCE AND PAYHENY BY COURIER DR
t NVERNTIGHT DELIVERYy PLFASE USE THIS ADDRESS:
FIRSTAR - GOVERNMENT LO-KBOX
") FEC #952182

1005 CONVENTION PLAZA
STa LDUISe MD £3101

THE REMITYTANCE AND YOUR PAYMENT ARE DUE 8Y 12/70972000. UPON
IECEIPY OF YOUR REMITTAMNCE AND PAYMENT, THE COMMISSION WILL SEND YOU
A FINAL DETERMINATION LETTER,

PLEASE DETACH AND RETURN THE PORYION BELOW WITH YOUR CAVHENT

S R P S GE I G MR N R SN G SR D MR G WD L S R WD S A S G TR S OD SR WS MR R WS A B WS GP R D SR s T AN D W AR W SR W e e

FOR: US CHAMBER NF CDOMMERCE PAC (NCAP)
FEL IDR: CODDR20GD

Ar@: 9§

DAVMRENT DNUYF DAYE:D 1270972000

DAYHENT AMDUNY DUSF: 253,00
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MEMORANDUM SENSITIVE

TO: THE COMMISSION
THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
STAFF DIRECTO
FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON %ﬂ
. ASSISTANT STAFHJDIRECTOR

REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION

SUBJECT: ADMINISTRATIVE FINES FINAL DETERMINATION
RECOMMENDATION FOR THE 2000 SEPTEMBER AND
OCTOBER MONTHLY REPORTS

Attached are two lists of political committees and their treasurers which the
Commission has found reason to believe (RTB) and assessed proposed civil money
penalties calculated at RTB for failure to file or failure to timely file the 2000
September and October Monthly Reports. The first list represents committees that
have paid the civil money penalty and the second list represents those that have not
paid. The committees that have not paid have been given at least forty (40) days
from the date of the Commission’s RTB finding to remit payment.

In accordance with 11 CJF.R. 111.34 and i1 CFR. 111.40, the
Commission shall send a final determination notice to those respondents that have
either paid or not paid the civil money penaity.

RAD Recommendation

(1) Make final determinations that the political committees and their treasurers on
the attached lists violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalties
so indicated.

(2) Send the appropriate letters.



0st$ 16 05Z$ 0002/0¢£/01
0SS°ETS 9 0002/92/60
ATHINOW J49gWHLddS 000T ¥ 3TN O WVITIIM 0¥0T80000
2d (@voN) DVd IDYIWANOQD J0 YFTWVHOI S(1 $6004V
005% 16 005% 0002/0£/01
S65°LTS 9 0002Z/9T/60
ATHINOW JdgWdLd4dS 000C NOSNDYFA ADVE 6615Y£00D
2d FALLININOD NOLLOV TVILLITOd NNS LHOINA 16004V
ALTVNEd AINOW TIALD TVNIA gLy FONIS SAVd ALTVNId 414 ALVA Ly’
ALIALLDY A0 TIATT ALVISAVA  ALVA LAIIOHY
AL LJOdTY - ANINSVIIL A FTLLIANINGD AWVN ALVAIANYD
HLVLS AWVN FEILLININOD #AY
divd LON .
I dOvd JAOd T NOILVINDHIO NOLLVNIANYILIA TVNIA
100Z/0€/10 ZLVA 0002-6661 NOISSIWNINOD NOLLDATH Tvadddd




0 R

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20463

SENSITI <

DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Tuesday, January 30, 2001 4:00

BALLOT DEADLINE:; Friday, January 30, 2001 4:00

COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SANDSTROM, SMITH, THOMAS, WOLD
SUBJECT: Administrative Fines Final Determination

Recommendation For The 2000 September &
October Monthly Reports.

() | approve the recommendation(s)

{) | approve the recommendations except those following
to which 1 abject (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except thase following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE: : SIGNATURE:;

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION



BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

N N Tt N g

IS Chamber of Commerce PAC AF #94
{NCAP) and William C. Miller,
Jr., as treasurer.

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Acting Secretary of the Federal
Election Commission, do hereby certify that on
February 2, 2001 the Commission decided by a vote
of 6-0 to make a final determination that US Chamber of
Commerce PAC (NCAP} and William C. Miller, Jr., ag treasurer,
violated 2 U.sS.C. § 434(a), and assess the civil money penalty
ag indicated in the Report Analysis Divisgion's Memorandum dated
January 30, 2001 for the 2000 September and October Monthly
Reports for the Administrative Fines Program; and send the
appropriate letter.

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,

Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:

260/ @Zdym % /QM_

Date Mary W, /Dove
Acting/Secretary of the
Commiagsion

Received in the Secretariat: Tues., Jan. 30, 2001 2:53 p.m.
Circulated to the Commission: Tues., Jan. 30, 2001 4:00 p.m.
Deadline for vote: Fri., Feb, 02, 2001 4:00 p.m.

viv
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CONFIRMATION OF CHMGM TOSHILLIAM Co MILLER JR.
US CHANBER OF COMMERCE PAC {NCAP})
16153 H ST N
HASHINGTON OC 20062-0001

JOHN MUCKLE~REPORT ANALYSIS DIV.
FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

999 E ST N

WASHINGTON DC 20463

FEBRUARY 2, 2001

WILLIAM C. HMILLER JR.

US CHAMBER OF COMMERCE PAC (NCAPI)
1615 H STREET NMW

WASHINGTON DC 20062

£00082040
AF# 94

DEAR WILLIAM Co MILLER JRo.y

ON 1073072000y THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION ("THE
COMMISSION"™) FOUND REASOMN TO BELIEVE ("RTB™) THAT US CHAMBER OF
COMMERCE PAC (NCAP) AND YOUsy AS TREASURERe VIOLATED 2 UeSoCo 4341A)
FOR FAILING TO TIMELY FILE THE 2000 SEPTEMB8ER MONTHLY REPORT. BY
MATILGRAM DAYED 11/01/2000s THE COMMISSION SENT YOU NOTIFICATION OF
THE RTS8 FINOING THAT INCLUDED A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT
RT8B OF $250 IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SCHEDULE OF PENALTIES AT 11
CeFeRoe 11le43. HITHIN 40 DAYS OF THE COMHISSION®S RTB FINDINGes YDU
WERE REQUIRED 7D EJTHER TRANSMIT PAYMENY OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL
MONEY PENALTY OR SUBMIT A MRITTEN RESPOMSE CHALLENGING EITHER THE
RYB FINDING OR THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY.

THE COMMISSION DID NOT RECEIVE PAYMENT 0OF THE CALCULATED CIViIL
MONEY PENALTY OR YOUR WRITTEN RESPONSE WITHIN THE TIME PERMITTED.
THEREFORE,y THE COMMISSION MADE A FINAL DETERMINATIOGN ON 02/02/72001
THAY YOUy AS TREASURERe AND US CHAMBER OF COMMERCE PAC (NCAP)
VIOLATED 2 UeSalae 4340A) AND ASSESSED A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE
AMOUNT OF $250 IN ACCORDANCE WITH 11 C.F.Re. 111.43. THE CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY 1S BASED DN THESE FACYORS:

ELECTION SENSITIVITY OF REPORT: NOT ELECTION SENSITIVE

LEVEL GF ACTIVITY: $13550
NUMBER OF DAYS LAYE: 6
NUMBER OF PREVIOUS CIVIL MOMEY PENALTIES ASSESSED: O

TO PAY THE CIVIL MONEY PENALTY
TO PAY THE CIVIL MONEY PENALTYe SEND THE ENCLOSED FORM AND YOUR
PAYMENT TO THE ADDRESS ON PAGE 3 WITHIN 30 DAYS OF RECEIPT OF THIS

WESTERN UNION COMMERCIAL SERVICES

¥
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LETTER

IF YOU DO NOT PAY THE CIVIL MOMNMEY PENALTY

UNPAID CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES ASSESSED THROUGH THE ADMINISTRATIVE
FINE REGULATIONS MILL BE SUBJECT TO THE DEBT COLLECTION ACY OF 1982
{"DCA™)y AS AMENDED BY THE DEBT COLLECTION IMPROVEMENT ACT OF 1996
{"DCIA"}s 31 UeSeCs 3701 ET SEQ. I[F YOU 0O NOT PAY THIS DEBT WITHIN
30 DAYS (OR FILE & WRITTEN PEVITION TO A FEDERAL DISTRICT COURT -
SEE BELOW)sy THE COMMISSION WILL TRANSFER THE DE8BT TO THE Ue.S.
DEPARTMENT 0OF THE TREASURY ("TREASURY™) FOR COLLECTION. HITHIN 5
DAYS OF ITS TRANSFER TO TREASURYs TREASURY WILL CONTACT THE DEBTOR
AND REQUEST PAYMENT. TREASURY CURRENTLY CHARGES A FEE OF 18% OF THE
CIVIL MONEY PENALTY FOR ITS COLLECTION SERVICES. THE FEE WILL BE
ADDED TO THE AMOUNT QOF THE CIVIL MONEY PENALTY THAT YOU ONWE. SHOULD
TREASURY®S ATTEMPTS FAILs TREASURY WILL TRANSFER THE DEBT TO A
PRIVATE COLLECTION AGENCY ("PCA"). IF THE DEBT IS REFERRED TO A
PCAy THE TREASURY AND PCA COLLECY A FEE OF 28% OF THE CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY AMOUNT WHICH MILL BE ADDED TO THE AMDUNT OF THE CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY. IF THE DEBT REMAINS UNPAIDs TREASURY MAY RECOMMEND THAT
THE COMMISSION REFER THE MATTER YO THE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE FOR
LITIGATION.

IF YOU CHOQSE TO APPEAL THE FINAL DETERMINATION OR CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY

IF YOU CHOOSE TO APPEAL THE FINAL DETERMINATION, YOU SHOULD
SUBMIT A WRITTEN PETITION, WITHIN 30 DAYS OF RECEIPY OF THIS LETTER,
TO THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE UNITED STATES FOR THE ODISTRICT IN WHICH
THE COMMITTEE OR YOU RESIDE, OR TRANSACY BUSINESSs REQUESTING THAT
THE FINAL DETERMINATION BE MODIFIED OR SET ASIDE. SEE 2 UeS<Co
A3TGLAIC4IICIITITI)e YOUR FAILURE TO RAISE AN ARGUMENT IN A TIMELY
FASHION DURING THE ADMINISTRATIVE PROCESS SHALL B8E OEEMED A HAIVER
OF THE RESPONDENT®S RIGHT TO PRESENT SUCH ARGUMENT IN A PETITION YO
THE DISTRICT COURT UNDER 2 UeSele 437Ge 11 CeFeRo 111.338.

THE CONFIDENTIALITY PROVISIONS AT 2 UeSeCe 43T7GUA(12) NO LONGER
APPLY AND THIS MAYTER IS NOW PUBLIC. THE FILE HILL BE MADE A PART
OF THE PUBLIC RECORD PURSUANT TO 11 CoFeRe 111.42(8). ALTHOUGH THE
COMPLETE FILE MUST BE PLACED OMN THE PUBLIC RECCORD WITHIN 30 DAYS
FROM THE DATE OF THE COMMISSION®S NOTIFICATION, THIS MAY OCCUR AT
ANY TIME FOLLOMING CERTIFICATION OF THE COMMISSION®S VOTE.

IF YOU HAVE ANY QUESTIONS REGARDING THE PAYMENT OF THE CIVIL
MONEY PENALTY, PLEASE CONTACY MARY €. SEILER AT FEDERAL EZLECTION
COMMISSION, 999 E STes NWy WASHINGTON, DC 20463, OR ON OUR TOLL FREE
NUMBER (8001424-9530 (PRESS 1, THEN PRESS 2} OR {202)5694-1130.

SINCERELYy

DANNY LEE MCDONALG
CHAIRMAN
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ADMINISTRATIVE FINE PAYMENT IMNSTRUCTIONS

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SCHEDULE OF PENALTIES AT 11 CeFeRa
11143, THE CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IS $250 FOR THE 2000 SEPTEMBER
MONTHLY REPORT.

THIS PENALTY SHOULD BE PAID BY CHECK OR MONEY ORDER KADE PAYABLE
TO THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION. IT SHOULD BE SENT 8Y MAIL T0:

FEDERAL ELECTICN COMMISSION
PO BOX 952182
STe LDUISy MO 63195-2182

IF YOU CHOOSE TO SEND YDUR PAYMENT BY COURJER OR OVERNIGHT
DELIVERYs PLEASE USE THIS ADDRESS:

FIRSTAR - GOVERNMENT LOCKBOX
FEC #952182
1005 CONVENTION PLAZA
$Te LOUISe MO 63101
THE FORM AND PAYMENT ARE DUE WITHIMN 30 DAYS OF RECEIPY OF THIS
LETYER.

PLEASE DETACH AND RETURK THE PORTION BELOW WITH YDUR PAYMENY
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FOR US CHAMBER OF COMMERCE PAC (NCAP)
FEC 1D# CDO0OB2040
AFR 94

PAYMENT AMOUNT DUE $250



US CHAMBER PAC

1311

Vendor ID Yendor Company Name Check Number eck Amount Check Date
254 FEDERAL ELECTIONS COMMISSION 1311 £250.00 31201
ipti i nt
Description Discount Taken Amount Description Discount Taken Amou
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US CHAMBER PAC

CIRIBTAR PANK
ADNENSITIATION ACCOUNT WABHIUTON, B0
10iAH RIRERY, NW LLE T
WABNINGTON, D€ 2002
Ky 7] | 8*00320.0699%
OATE YT
TWOIRINDRED FIFFY AND XX / 1060 DCLLARS
FEDERAL BELECTIONS COMMISSION
FEC #952182
1008 CONVENTION PLAZA US CHAMBER PAC

$TLOUIE, MO 83101
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THIS IS THE END OF ADMINSTRATIVE FINE CASE
# A #4/

DATE FILMED 4-S-4/ CAMERANO. 3

CAMERAMAN gﬁ[\ J
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